



A THESIS

FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

Dynamic response of cells to ultrasound under the variable heights of culture medium in the well

Tsengel Bayarsaikhan

Department of Biomedical Engineering GRADUATE SCHOOL JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

February, 2017



Dynamic response of cells to ultrasound under the variable heights of culture medium in the well

Tsengel Bayarsaikhan

(Supervised by Professor Min Joo Choi)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

February, 2017

This thesis has been examined and approved by

······

Date

Department of Biomedical Engineering

GRADUATE SCHOOL

JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY



A THESIS

FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

Dynamic response of cells to ultrasound under the variable heights of culture medium in the well

Tsengel Bayarsaikhan

(Supervised by Professor Min Joo Choi)

Department of Biomedical Engineering GRADUATE SCHOOL JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY 2016.12



ABSTRACT

In vitro experiments on the ultrasonic effect of cells in culture wells often lack reproducibility and fail successful transfer to other experimental conditions for the similar ultrasonic device settings. It is suspected that the problem is caused by the standing waves formed in the well, although it is not clarified yet. A one dimensional acoustic theory states that the pressure at the bottom of the culture well where cells are attached varies from 0 to twice of the incident wave while the culture medium height varies a half wave length of the incident ultrasound. The present study looked into the dynamic response of the cells in a culture well exposed to ultrasound under the different standing wave conditions controlled by the height of the culture medium. It was observed that the extent of the morphological changes of the cells exposed to ultrasound were significantly different for the different heights of culture medium even if the ultrasonic device output setting remains unchanged. This founding suggests that the parameter such as the culture medium height associated with standing wave effects must be monitored when in vitro ultrasonic cell experiments are performed. Further investigation including the physiological responses of cells is suggested to underpin the present observations.

Key words: low intensity ultrasound, HT-22 cell line, culture well, variable height



CONTENTS

ABSTRACTi
CONTENTSii
LIST OF FIGURESiv
LIST OF TABLES
I. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Ultrasound cell stimulation1
1.2 Acoustic field in culture well1
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1 Cell culture
2.2 Measurement of ultrasound intensity
2.3 Pressure estimation at the bottom of the culture well
2.4 Height control of culture medium
2.5 Microscopic imaging11
2.6 Ultrasonic exposure condition13
2.7 Analysis of ultrasound-induced morphology changes14
III. RESULTS



3.1 The morphology of HT-22 cells15
3.2 Ultrasound induced cell responses
3.3 Dynamic changes of cell body and neurite
3.4 Length changes
3.5 Length changes after 5 minute at room temperature
3.6 Circular cells count
IV. DISCUSSION
V. CONCLUSION
Acknowledgement
REFERENCES



LIST OF FIGURES





Figure 3.6-3.	Normalized	ratio of	f circular	cells a	and con	rol and	l ultrasound	different	height	of medium.
(c) 2.125mm,	(d) 2.250mm									



LIST OF TABLE



I. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Ultrasound cell stimulation

Ultrasound has potential for the clinical treatment of nerve regeneration in both the central and peripheral nervous system (Ren et al. 2010, Zhang et al. 2009). Ultrasound energy with frequencies above human hearing can be applied to the individual cells to generate the micromechanical strains resulting in the biochemical effects at the cellular level. Non-invasive physical stimulation by ultrasound is known to promote cell viability, proliferation, and change size of the cell body as well as the length of axon and dendrites (or neurite) in neuronal cells. *In vitro* experiments show that modulation of neuronal development has been achieved after the ultrasound exposure during which temporary neurite retraction was triggered and cell body shrinkage was induced (Hu et al. 2013). The neurite retraction and body shrinkage during 10 min ultrasound exposure turned out to initiate the recovery to the neurite lengths over 100 min post-exposure (Hu et al. 2013). In addition, Enhanced neurite elongation was observed in cultured primary rat cortical neurons by 5 min daily ultrasound exposure (Ren et al. 2010).

On the other hand, ultrasonic stimulation induced the alteration of the functions of cultured Schwann cells as demonstrated by promoted cell proliferation (Zhang et al. 2009). In other applications such as collapse of microbubbles ultrasound can temporarily increase the cell membrane permeability (sonoporation) to create a physical route for impermeable agents to enter the cells (Fan et al. 2014).

1.2 Acoustic pressure in culture well

Many *in vitro* studies for ultrasound stimulation effect use the cell lines conventionally cultivated in culture wells. Cells are attached to the bottom of the culture well filled with culture medium during their life time as illustrated in Figure 1.1. In this setup, ultrasound transducer was placed right below the culture well and directly attached to the outer surface of the bottom through which the acoustic energy was delivered to cells sitting on the bottom surface. Several different types of setup are possible



depending on how the ultrasound energy is delivered to the cells of interest as shown in Figure 1.2. Between the different setups, intricate physical development occurs, which makes it difficult to understand on account of the technical differences (Kinoshta and Hynynen 2007). Many researchers prefer to choose the experimental setup of the *culture well on ultrasonic transducer* as shown in Figure 1.2(a) due to its simplicity. However, such *in vitro* studies often lack reproducibility and fail successful transfer to other experimental conditions although ultrasonic environments are similar (Karin et al. 2011).



Figure 1.1. An illustration of a typical in vitro experimental setup for the study of cell response to ultrasound

In order to consider ultrasonic technique as a useful tool to stimulate cells, reproducibility of ultrasonic effect should be verified and physical parameters related with acoustic waves and geometry of the setup has to be standardized. Despite the fact that some research groups attempted to optimize the acoustic parameters in their published reports, little attention has been given to the results due to poor understanding of the technical issues of the experimental conditions (Zarnitsyn and Prausnitz 2004, Rahim et al. 2006).



For instance, Schuster et al. (2013) reported that different settings of frequency and dose in an ultrasonic conditions brought different impacts on proliferation, morphology. However, the results of the cell response to the ultrasound are not consistent and little is known about the direct effect of frequency or energy density as a standard protocol. Kinoshita and Hynynen (2007) reported that the reproducibility was enhanced using an absorbing material substituting in medium-air interface. It is suspected that the standing waves formed inside the culture medium can cause differences in results (Hensel et al 2011), which was not clearly clarified yet.



Figure 1.2. Schematic of the various experimental setups for in vitro cultured cell line exposed to ultrasound. (a) Well on ultrasonic transducer, (b) well located in the far-field, (c) sealed and immersed well in the coupling medium of water, (d) and (e) ultrasonic transducer in the culture medium

A simple one dimensional acoustic theory states that the acoustic pressure at the inner bottom of the culture well where cells are attached varies from 0 to its maximum (twice of the incident wave) as the culture medium height varies a quarter wave length of the incident ultrasound (Choi et al. 2012). This



exposed to ultrasound. We hypothesize that the acoustic pressure formed at inner bottom of culture well is subject to the height of medium due to the standing wave effect. Therefore, the amount of ultrasonicinduced stimulation energy can be different depending on the height of medium in the culture well, even if the ultrasonic device setting remains unchanged.

In order to differentiate the dynamic response of the cells to the acoustic pressure, we have monitored the room temperature (RT)-induced cell body shrinkage process. Most cell lines adapted to grow at 37 °C in the incubator can get stresses and changes in their morphology when they are placed at room temperature, usually 20-25°C. As soon as they are exposed to room temperature, they start to respond to the decreased temperature and shrink in their body size as a natural apoptosis process. This RT-induced apoptosis process can be fostered by applying an extracellular physical stimulation such as the acoustic pressure.

In this study, we have investigated the acceleration of the RT-induced apoptosis process by delivering the acoustic power to the cells at room temperature. Instead of monitoring and measuring the ultrasound response of the cells inside the incubator as most other experiments have been performed, we installed the measurement setup in the ambient temperature intentionally. In addition to the acceleration of the apoptosis process, we have differentiated the standing wave effect on the dynamic response of the cells exposed to ultrasound by altering the height of the culture medium in the well. Therefore, depending on the strength of the acoustic stimulation on the cells, we expect to observe the difference in their morphological changes.



II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Cell culture

HT-22, an immortalized hippocampal neuronal cell line, was cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin, and incubated at 37°C humidified air with 5% CO_2 . Cell density was 3×10^4 cells/well in a culture well with 35 mm in diameter (Figure 2.5-2).

2.2 Measurement of ultrasound intensity

The experimental setup of acoustic power measurement was shown in Figure 2.2. A single element, ultrasonic transducer (V302, Panametrics NDT, USA) with flat surface was used as the source of ultrasound (Figure 2.2 (a)). The transducer has the aperture diameter of 25.4 mm and is resonated at the frequency of 1 MHz. RF signal is supplied by a function generator (33250A, Agilent Tech., USA) to generate continuous sine wave and is amplified in a power amplifier (75A250, Amplifier Research Inc., USA).

Ultrasound power meter (UPM-DT-1AV, Ohmic Ltd., USA) was used to measure total acoustic output power of ultrasonic beam in watt [W] (Figure 2.2 (b)). The principle of the measurement is based on the radiant force from the ultrasonic field. A positioning clamp is used to hold the transducer in de-gassed water above a conical target. The ultrasonic energy passes through the water to reflect off the target and is then absorbed by the rubber lining. The radiant power is directly proportional to the total downward force on the target. This weight is then transferred through the target support assembly to the electromechanical load cell inside the scale (Preston 1991). The spatial average temporal average intensity of ultrasound can be calculated as total acoustic power divided by the target area (Acevedo and Das-Gupota 2002) (Figure 2.2 (c)).





Figure 2.2. Measurement of ultrasonic power. (a) A single element, ultrasonic transducer (V302, Panametrics NDT, USA) with flat surface, (b) the ultrasound power meter (UPM-DT-1AV, Ohmic Ltd., USA) and (c) ultrasound intensity.



2.3 Pressure estimation at the bottom of the culture well

The standing wave formed in the culture medium of the well was predicted using plane wave propagation theory. Assuming the water is used as the culture medium, pressure at inner bottom of culture well is given by Kinsler et al. (1999)

$$p(z = 0, t) = p_0 [1 + R(-2ik_c H)] \exp(i\omega t) \qquad (1)$$

$$R = \frac{Z_{air} - Z_{water}}{Z_{air} + Z_{water}}$$

$$\omega = 2\pi f_0$$

$$k_c = \omega/c$$

Here, Z_{air} and Z_{water} are acoustic impedance of air and water, respectively. R is the reflection coefficient, ω is the angular frequency, f_0 is the incident ultrasound frequency, c is the sound speed of water, k_c is the wavenumber in water, H is the height of water, and p_0 is the initial pressure.

The predicted peak amplitude of the standing wave varies with the culture medium height which repeats by a half wavelength height. Figure 2.3 displays the peak pressure against the culture medium height. As seen in Figure 2.3, the pressure magnitude varies from zero (node) to the twice of incident wave (antinode), being repeated by every half wavelength height. The present study considered the four different heights matched to the four pressures equally divided from zero to the maximum value (marked by A, B, C, and D where the A represents the antinode and the B is node). The ratios of pressure at each height are 2, 1.5, 0.5 and 0 to incident pressure respectively.





Figure 2.3. The predicted peak amplitude of the standing wave against the culture medium height: the four different heights matched to the four pressures equally divided from zero to the maximum value, marked by A, B, C, and D where the A represents the antinode and the D is node.



2.4 Height control of culture medium

Under the conditions that the ultrasonic frequency is 1 MHz and the culture medium is assumed to be acoustically equivalent to water, the values of the four heights used in the present experiment are A=1.875mm, B=2mm, C=2.125mm, and D=2.25mm, as illustrated in Figure 2.4. The height of the culture medium in the well was measured from the ultrasonic pulse reflected at the medium-air interface. Figure 2.4(b) shows the ultrasonic pulses measured for the four heights (A, B, C, and D) using a 10 MHz ultrasonic transducer (V311, Panametrics NDT, USA) driven by a Pulser/Receiver (PR5800, Panametrics NDT, USA), which were acquired on a digital oscilloscope (LC574AL, 1GSps, LeCroy, USA) (Figure 2.4(a)). The time of flights of ultrasound between the inner bottom of culture well and the medium-air interface were respectively 2.5, 2.667, 2.832 and 3µs for the four different heights of A, B, C, and D (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1 Time of flight (TOF) of ultrasound between the inner bottom of culture well and medium-air interface for the four different culture medium heights of A, B, C, and D defined in Figure 2.3 ~Figure 2.4.

	TOF (µs)	Height (mm)
Α	2.500	1.875
В	2.667	2.000
C	2.832	2.125
D	3.000	2.250





Figure 2.4 Ultrasonic measurement of the height of the culture medium in the well: (a) experimental setup with a 10 MHz ultrasonic transducer and (b) ultrasonic pulses reflected at the medium-air interface for the four heights (A, B, C, and D). The time of flight of ultrasound for the four different culture medium heights are provided in Table 2.1



2.5 Microscopic imaging

The HT-22 cell line was imaged by a digital camera (EOS 5D Mark III, Canon Inc., Japan) adapted with a microscope (CH-30, Olympus Inc., Japan) carrying an objective lens (10x, Olympus, Japan) (Figure 2.5-1). One of the eye pieces was replaced by the digital camera and the other was used for the light illumination whose current was controlled by a current source to regulate the light intensity. The culture well with neuron cells was mounted on the ultrasound transducer holder that was inserted on the sample stage of the microscope. The cells in the culture well were illuminated through the objective for the reflection mode operation which was enhanced by a reflector located right below the bottom surface of the culture well. The reflector was obtained from a smart phone backlight reflector that has over 99% reflectivity and small attenuation of the acoustic power. In order to reduce the temperature increase from the energy absorption of the medium by the ultrasound wave, a homemade fan circulates the air around the sample stage. The medium temperature was monitored by the Thermal camera (T630sc, FLIR Inc., Sweden) as shown in Figure 2.5-1(a). The acquired image has the size of 5760 x 3840 pixels and the spatial resolution of 0.227 µm/pixel.

A typical image of the HT22 cell obtained using the present microscope (equipped with the ultrasonic transducer under the culture well) is shown in Figure 2.5-2(b), contrasting it to the image (Figure 2.5-2 (a)) obtained using a conventional microscope. As seen in Figure 2.5-2, the image with the present microscope is virtually characteristically the same as that of the conventional microscope. This confirms the present microscope can be used for the real time morphological observation of the cell under ultrasonic irradiation. For the analysis purpose, the contrast of cell images was further enhanced by Contrast-Limited Adaptive Histogram Equalization (CLAHE) in Matlab software.





Figure 2.5-1. The present experimental setup: (a) photograph, (b) culture well (top view) and transducer, (c) culture medium.



Figure 2.5-2 A typical image of the HT-22 cell, (a) taken from a conventional microscope and (b) obtained with the present microscopic setup. (Scale bar = $50 \ \mu m$)



2.6 Ultrasonic exposure condition

A 1 MHz ultrasonic transducer (V302, Olympus, USA) used to irradiate the ultrasound wave to the cells, driven by the electrical signal which was generated by a function generator (33250A, Agilent tech., USA) and amplified by a power amplifier (75A250, Amplifier Research, USA). The transducer surface was contact through a coupling medium to the outer bottom of the culture well. Ultrasound was transmitted from 25.4 mm diameter ultrasonic transducer surface area to the bottom of the 35 mm culture well via water (Figure 2.6). The HT-22 cells were exposed to ultrasound, after 24 hours seeding, with a nominal intensity (I_{TASA}) of 50mW/cm² and operated at the continuous wave mode for 10 and 15 minutes for length measurement and circular cell count, respectively. The ultrasonic device setting was chosen from the measurement of the ultrasonic power meter (UPM-DT-1AV, Ohmic Ltd., USA) to produce the ultrasound power of 50mW/cm² (Figure 2.2). It should be noted that the measured nominal intensity is the expected one from the power meter calibration, which should vary in reality depending on the height of the medium.



Figure 2.6. The schematic of the present experimental setup for ultrasonic irradiation to the cells cultured in the well, together with the microscopic monitoring device.



2.7 Analysis of ultrasound-induced morphology changes

The microscopic images of the cells at each experimental condition were processed to look into any morphological changes such as cell body shrinkage and displacement, neurite retraction and expansion and area differences. Image shows cell body, axon, dendrite (or neurite) and nucleus of cell body inside. Ultrasound irradiation generates small ripples on the surface of the medium and we had to refocus the image to compensate the disturbance due to the ultrasound. The identification of the cell boundary was made by manually using automatic selection tool named 'Magnetic lasso tool' in image processing software with default settings 'width 10, contrast 10, frequency 57' (Photoshop CC, Adobe Inc., USA) due to its poor quality of image contrast. Subsequent image processing procedures to quantify the extent of the morphological response of the cell, thresholding, binary conversion etc, were performed using MATLAB (R2015a, MathWorks Inc., USA). Temporal changes in the area of the cell boundary including neurite, relative to that at the starting time of ultrasonic irradiation, were calculated to view the extent of the morphological response of the cells to ultrasound.



III. RESULT

3.1 The morphology of HT-22 cells

When the cells were grown for 24 hours after seeding, we took the cell image at room temperature using our customized imaging system with the ultrasound transducer installed. The typical HT-22 cells characterized by cell body or soma, nucleus, dendrite and axon or neurite were illustrated in Figure 3.1. Cell body contains the nucleus and neurites are extend from the cell body and attached to a substrate. One of the most common cell types is the one whose body and neuritis are fully expanded as shown in Figure 3.1 (a), which looks healthy and stable. Figure 3.1 (b) shows a cell body had an axon. HT-22 cells eventually become circular in their shape as they are exposed to the room temperature for longer time as shown in Figure 3.1 (c) and we believe this is the cell death stage (apoptosis) where they stop the biological functioning that the loss of cell volume or shrinkage, nuclear condensation, internucleosomal DNA fragmentation, and apoptotic body formation (Bortner et al. 2002 and Shimaru et al. 1997). Cells then detached from the bottom surface of the well and float around in the medium.



Figure 3.1. Typical image of the HT-22 cell line, taken from the present microscope system. (a) Cell body and neurite were extended, (b) cell body had an axon and (c) cell body had no neurite (circular cell). (Scale bar 20µm).



3.2 Ultrasound induced cell responses

The cells that were transported from the incubator to the ultrasound transducer installed imaging system were imaged every 20 second for 15 minutes while ultrasound pressure was applied. Figure 3.2 shows an example of the morphology changes of HT-22 cell during ultrasound irradiations. In this figure, we selected two typical cell responses with time, the neurite retraction and the dynamic activities of cell body, for different medium heights, 1.875, 2.0, 2.125, 2.25 mm and control (1.875mm). The neurite retraction is one of the most noticeable variations of the cell morphology due to the environment change and the physical stimulation like the ultrasound pressure. The neuritis tend to retract rather rapidly in less than 2 minutes in most of the cases once they start to do so (Figure 3.2 (a)). In addition, cell body becomes circular as soon as the neurites are finished retraction. Some cells with circular body shape show different responses in this experiment such as neurite expansion, active alteration inside the body as shown in (b)'s of Figure 3.2. From this figure, we have concluded that the length measurement of the cell and the circular cell count could be two good measures to demonstrate the morphology responses to the ultrasound pressure as we will show in the following sections (section 3.5 and 3.6). We have used these two parameters to illustrate the morphological responses to the ultrasound pressure quantitatively because it is not easy to tell the differences among the results from different medium heights.





Figure 3.2. The morphology changes of HT-22 cell during ultrasound irradiations. (a) Cell body and neurite retraction, (b) cell body response by ultrasound exposure for different medium heights, 1.875, 2.0, 2.125, 2.25 mm, and control (1.875mm). (Scale bar 20µm).



3.3 Dynamic changes of cell body and neurite

Figure 3.3 shows the variations of neurites and cell bodies during ultrasound irradiation. Cell in Figure 3.3-1(a) shows the generation of a new neurite next to the other one after 9 minute of ultrasound irradiation and then retracted at 14 minute. More distinct generation of a neurite was shown at 8 minute in Figure 3.3-1 (b) where the body was expanded as well. In the case 2.125 mm (figure 3.3-1 (c)), cell neurite was elongated at 10 minute. However cells doesn't show any growth in neuritis in Figure 3.3-1 (d) and (e) which are for the medium height of 2.25 mm and control(1.875 mm), respectively, both of which are due to the low acoustic pressure.

Figure 3.3-2 shows Dynamic morphological changes of the cells to the ultrasonic irradiation were further clarified by the afterimages constructed by overlapping all of the cell images (captured every 1 minute for the time period of ultrasonic irradiation) to one image and averaging it in colors. In the afterimages for the cases B and C, Figure 3.3-2 (b) and (c) shows the cell movement and changes in the body greater than other cases D and E, resulting in larger variations in color. In the case of A, the largest acoustic pressure was applied to the cell but it didn't show larger variation of the body whereas the subcellular activities inside the body was observable in Figure 3.3-1(a). From these images, it is speculated that the neurites expanded as well as the cells moved during the ultrasound irradiation.





Figure 3.3-1. The variations of neurites and cell bodies during ultrasound irradiation. (a) A, (b) B, (c) C, (d) D, (e) control. (a) Cell body and neurite were moved actively and expanded at 9 min, (b) cell neurite was expanded at 8 min, (c) cell neurite was moved and elongated at 10 min, and cells were inactive in (d) and (e) (scale bar 50µm).





Figure 3.3-2. Afterimages of the cell morphological changes for the 5 cases of the 4 different culture medium heights and the control, constructed by overlapping all the images of the cell (captured every 20 second for the time period of ultrasonic irradiation) to one image and averaging the image in colors.(a) A, b) B, (c) C, (d) D, (e) control



3.4 Length changes

Cell body shrinkage is the most conspicuous cell response in the process of cell apoptosis (Martin et al. 2005 and Kristiansen et al. 2014). Healthy cells are triggered to change in their morphology when they are exposed to uncomfortable environment starting with the neurite retraction followed by the body shrinkage (Shimura et al. 1997 and Shimura et al. 1998). Figure 3.4-1 shows the temporal variations of the cell morphology for 15 minutes after less than 5 minutes of preparation procedure for different medium heights with ultrasound exposure and the control without ultrasound. In the case of A(1.875 mm medium height), the elongated cell with a neurite start to retract in the body and the neurite after 5 minutes from the start of the ultrasound exposure. After 11 minutes, the cell morphology didn't change much and became a circular cell indicating the cell death stage. The cell with three neurites in case B(2.0 mm) retracted one of the neurites and altered the body shape after 5 minutes. Interestingly the body shape varied from circular to oval shape between 5 and 15 minutes. In the cases of C(2.125 mm) and D(2.25 mm), the length start to decrease after 5 minutes. The control (1.875 mm) cell with no ultrasound irradiation start to reduce the length of the neurite and area of the cell body after 9 minutes where the triggering time is delayed compared to the cases with ultrasound exposure.

Figure 3.4-2 shows the temporal variations (plotted in the vertical direction) of the cells acquired under the 4 different heights of the culture medium ((a), (b), (c) and (d)) and no ultrasonic irradiation ((e) as a control) (plotted in the horizontal direction). Figure 3.4-2 (a) shows the length of cells for different medium heights and control and the normalized ratio of the length changes is redrawn in Figure 3.4-2 (b) for the comparison. The cases with ultrasound exposure show the decrease in the length started around 4 minutes whereas the control cell length start to reduce around 8 minute. From these results, we could conclude that the ultrasound exposure triggered the retraction of cell length earlier than the control case with no ultrasound exposure.





Figure 3.4-1. Temporal variations of the cell morphology. (a) A, (b) B, (c) C, (d) D, (e) control. (a) Cell neurite retracted at 5 min, (b) cell neurite retracted at 5 min, (c) cell neurite retracted at 5 min, (d) cell neurite retracted at 5 min, (e) cell body was changed to smaller at 9 min, but neurite didn't retract. (Scale bar 50µm)





Figure 3.4-2. The temporal variations of the cells. (a) Shows the length of cells for different medium heights and control. (b) The normalized ratio of the length changes



3.5 Length changes after 5 minute at room temperature

Quantitative analysis of cell response to the ultrasound wave was performed by monitoring the length of the cells as a function of time. We have analyzed the cell images for the time period when the cells were exposed to the ultrasound irradiation to monitor the real time cell activities. Figure 3.5(a) shows the averaged length variation of the 20 cells for 4 different heights of the medium and a control well. Most cells for 10 minutes have gradually been decreased in their length due to the temperature-induced apoptosis. However, as we expected, cells that were experienced the ultrasound pressure have retracted more during this period compared to the control cells. The red line representing the medium height of 1.875 mm shows a larger retraction in their length after 5 minutes of ultrasound exposure compared to the cells of the control. The height of 2.0 mm (blue line) also shows a slightly faster retraction of the length after 7 minutes of exposure as illustrated in Figure 3.5 (a). The other two heights of 2.125, 2.25 mm show similar retraction trends compared to the control cease.

The medium height of 1.875 mm made the cells retract to about 66% of their initial length and 2.0 mm height gave rise to 74% of retraction of their initial lengths. On the contrary, the cells for 2.125, 2.25 mm and the control were retracted to about 81%, 82%, and 85%, respectively, as shown in Figure 3.5 (b). This implies that the height of 1.875 mm gives the largest ultrasound power, about twice of the incident wave, to the cells due to the fact that the cells are sitting at the anti-node point of the standing wave. The height of 2.25 mm generates the node point at the bottom of the well where the net acoustic power is to be close to zero, which results in the similar response to one from the control well.





Figure 3.5. Lengths retraction of cells for 10 minute ultrasound exposure after 5 minutes of wait in room temperature. (a) Normalized cell length in percentage with time, (b) Bar graph of the normalized length of cells for different medium height conditions



3.6 Circular cells count

Another indicator that shows the temporal response of cells to the ultrasound is counting the number of circular cells as a function of time. We counted the circular cells, i.e. intuitively dead cells, from the beginning of the ultrasound exposure to the end of it by every minute as shown in Figure 3.6-1. There were already a countable number of circular cells on the bottom of the culture well even when the cells were taken out from the incubator due to the natural and random process of apoptosis as illustrated with the dotted red circles in Figure 3.6-1(a). Being exposed to the ultrasound irradiation, cells shrink in their size and lead to death becoming a circular shape, which results in an additional increase of the number of circular cells which is indicated in Figure 3.6-1(b) with the dotted white circles.

Figure 3.6-2, 3 shows the number of circular cells normalized by the total number of cells and then by the first value at 0 minute as a function of every minute for 4 different height of the medium. All 4 different results were compared respectively to the result of the control that has the same height but no ultrasound irradiation. The number of circular cells for the smallest height (1.875mm) of the medium that corresponds to the maximum acoustic power to the cells was increased faster compared to the control as shown in Figure 3.6-2 (a). The height of 2.0 mm that gives the second largest power resulted in a faster increase in the number of circular cells compared to the control as shown in Figure 3.6-3 (b). However, Figure 3.6-3 (c) and (d) shows that the height of 2.125 and 2.25mm makes no big difference in the rate of increase in the number of circular cells compared to the control. In the case of 2.25mm height, the number of circular cells for the ultrasound exposure was saturated to the total number of cells in the culture well. From Figure 3.6-2, 3, it could be concluded that cells responded to the ultrasound pressure by a faster increase in the number of circular cells depending on the height of the medium.





Figure 3.6-1. Temporal response of cells to the ultrasound. (a) Circular cells inside of red round beginning ultrasound exposure, (b) circular cells inside of white round end of ultrasound. (Scale bar $100\mu m$)





Figure 3.6-2. Normalized ratio of circular cells and control and ultrasound different height of medium, (a) 1.875mm, (b) 2.000mm.



Figure 3.6-3. Normalized ratio of circular cells and control and ultrasound different height of medium. (c) 2.125mm, (d) 2.250mm



IV. DISCUSSION

Ultrasound-induced cell stimulation is widely investigated during the last decade as a novel concept to manipulate at the cellular level. The mechanisms are very complicated and have yet not been explored in depth. One of the reasons is that there are too many experimental parameters affecting the results, which sometimes cannot be controlled (Yu and Xu 2014). Some parameters like the volume of culture medium may have large effects on the power of ultrasound irradiated to the cells (Hensel et al. 2011, Choi et al. 2013). In this study, we have attempted to demonstrate the simple one dimensional plain wave prediction for the standing wave field formed in a culture medium of the well, stating that acoustic pressure to the cells sitting on the bottom of the culture well will vary dramatically depending on the height of the medium.

HT-22 cell lines cultured in the incubator are subject to different survival environment when they are placed at the room temperature setup for the ultrasound stimulation experiment. Cells are most likely to respond negatively to their biological regulation systems and start to undergo changes in their morphology depending on the extent of the environmental and physical affects. We have observed that the cells exposed at room temperature environment start to diminish in their body along with the decrease of the neurites length in a relatively short time period, i.e. less than 15 minutes. We were able to foster the negative response of the morphology by means of impinging the ultrasound radiation as an extracellular physical stimulation. The temporal retraction ratio with respect to the initial length of the body demonstrated this effect with low intensity ultrasound (50mW/cm², continuous wave) even though this trend has to be confirmed with more results for higher ultrasound power.

In this study, we have attempted to investigate the standing wave effect on the cell morphology response depending on the medium height that produces different ultrasound power at the bottom of the well where the cells are located. It is shown that the HT-22 cell neurite more rapidly compressed to the cell body along with the cell body shrinkage, which resulted in the alteration of the cell outline into the



variation of the acoustic pressure against the culture medium height (Figure 2.3) is characteristically similar to the degree of the morphological cell responses (Figure 3.5 (b)). For the same nominal intensity (50mW/cm²), the cell responses are different for the different culture medium height. As reported by Hu et al. (2013), certain acoustic output power resulted in instances of cell body displacement and the extent of the effects was dependent on acoustic intensity. The present observation may explain why the biological response of the cells to the ultrasound observed to be different for the same ultrasound power when the medium height was not controlled properly.



V. CONCLUSIONS

In this work, we have performed the first *in vitro* experimental demonstration at room temperature of the real-time dynamic response of the neuronal cell morphology to the ultrasound irradiation. We took advantage of the fact that the cells exposed to the room temperature will retract naturally due to the uncomfortable environmental conditions. The ultrasound energy delivered to the cells has promoted the morphological retraction ratio compared with the cells without ultrasound irradiation. In addition, the ultrasound intensity varies from 0 to the twice of the incident wave intensity at the bottom surface of the well where the cells are located depending on the medium height due to the standing wave effect. We have demonstrated that the variation of the acoustic peak pressure against the medium height (Figure 2.2) is characteristically similar to the degree of the morphological cell responses (Figure 3.5 (b)). This indicates that the ultrasonic exposure will be significantly different for the same ultrasound power generated from the transducer. The study claims that the parameter such as the culture medium height closely associated with standing wave effects must be monitored when *in vitro* ultrasonic cell experiments are performed. Further investigation which includes the physiological reactions of the cells is suggested to underpin the present results.



Acknowledgement

This master thesis has been carried out at the Department of Biomedical Engineering, Jeju National University, since autumn 2014. A number of people deserve thanks for their support and help. It is therefore my greatest pleasure to express my gratitude to them all in this acknowledgement.

I would like to convey my warmest gratitude to my supervisor Professor Min Joo Choi, who gave me the opportunity to conduct my study in his research group, support to me his 최민주교수 과제 (2013/9-2015/8) and for his guidance, generous contribution of knowledge and experience, valuable comments and encouragement from the start until the end of my study.

I also need to thank is supported by 외국인 장학금(학비), and 코러스트 인건비 지원(2016. 1~8).

My sincere thanks also goes to Professor Su-Yong Eun for offering me the 2 semester internship opportunities in their groups and I had been supported by 은수용 교수님 과제 (2016,9~2016,12).

My deepest gratitude also goes to Mister Gwansuk Kang and Seungmoo Yang who was very generous with their time, giving priceless knowledge and assisted me in each step to complete the thesis. Further I also would like to remind their support, kindness and patients.

I wish to express my deep thank to Dr. Hun Yun Hua for guiding me to study in South Korea.

I am especially indebted to all the members in my laboratory, Son Chang Kim, Oh Bin Kwon, Lee Ji Hyung and Jeon Sang Chan, their kindness, cooperation and assistance during my study.

Also, I greatly acknowledge to my friends Dash Oyunbileg, Amarsanaa Hulan and Ulziisaikhan Jawzandulam who study in Jeju National University for their valuable support which was much needed for the completion of this research.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family for all their love and encouragement. For my parents and grandmother who raised me with a love of science and supported me in all my pursuits.



REFERENCE

J Cong Ren, Jia-Mou Li, and Xin Lin. LIPUS Enhance Elongation of Neurites in Rat Cortical Neurons through Inhibition of GSK-3β1 BES 23, 244-249, 2010.

Hua Zhang, Xin Lin, M., Hong Wan, Jun-Hua Li, Jia-Mou Li. Effect of low intensity pulsed ultrasound on the expression of neurotrophin-3 and brain derived neurotrophic factor in cultured schwann cells. Microsurgery 29:479–485, 2009.

Revathi Ananthakrishnan1 and Allen Ehrlicher. The Forces Behind Cell Movement. Int. J. Biol. Sci. 3(5):303-317, 2007.

Joseph L. Sanguinetti, Ezra Smith, John J.B. Allen, and Stuart Hameroff. Human Brain Stimulation with Transcranial Ultrasound. Bioelectromagnetic and Subtle Energy Medicine. K22937_C032.indd 355-361, 2014

Yaxin Hu, Wenjing Zhong, Jennifer M.F.Wan, and Alfred C.H.Yu. Ultrasound can modultate neuronal development: Impact onneurite growth and cell body morphology. Ultrasound in Med. & Biol., Vol.39, No. 5 pp. 915-925, 2013

Karin Hensel, Martin P. Mienkina, and Georg Schmitz. Analysis of ultrasound field in cell culture wells for in vitro ultrasound therapy experiments. Ultrasound in Med. & Biol., Vol. 37, No. 12, pp. 2105–2115, 2011

Kinoshita and Hynynen. Key factors that affect sonoporation efficiency in in vitro settings: The importance of standing wave in sonoporation. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 359. 860–865, 2007.

Min Joo Choi, Gwansuk Kang, Tetsuya Kodama and Andrew J Coleman. Ultrasonic standing wave patterns in a petri-dish. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 131, 3364, 2012.



Gwansuk Kang, Kang Il Lee, Dong-guk Paeng, and Min Joo Choi, Influence of the height of fluid medium on the pressure field in a petri-dish, Proc, Acoust. Soc. Kor, 31(2), p100, Yusoo, 8 Dec, 2012.

Vladimir G. Zarnitsyn and Mark R. Prausnitz. Physical parameters influencing optimization of ultrasound-mediated DNA transfection, UMB, 30(4), pp527-538, 2004.

Hebb DO. Organization of Behavior: A Neuropsychological Theory. New York: John Wiley and Sons. Brain Res Bull. 50(5-6):437. 1999

Yuh-Nung Jan1 and Lily Yeh Jan: Dendrites. Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Departments of Physiology, Biochemistry, and Biophysics, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, California 94143-0725, USA

František JELÍNEK, Jaroslav ŠAROCH, Ondřej KUČERA, Jiří HAŠEK, Jiří POKORNÝ, Nicole JAFFREZIC-RENAULT, Laurence PONSONNET: Measurement of Electromagnetic Activity of Yeast Cells at 42 GHz. RADIOENGINEERING, VOL. 16, NO. 1, 2007.

Stuart Hameroff, Michael Trakas, Chris Duffield d, Emil Annabi, M. Bagambhrini Gerace, Patrick Boyle, Anthony Lucas, Quinlan Amos, Annemarie Buadu, John J. Badal: Transcranial Ultrasound (TUS) Effects on Mental States: A Pilot Study. Brain Stimulation 6,409-415, 2013

Albertas Janulevicius, Jaap van Pelt, and Arjen van: Ooyen Compartment Volume Influences Microtubule Dynamic Instability. Netherlands Institute for Brain Research, Biophys J. 90(3): 788–798, 2006.

A. Schuster, T. Schwab, M. Bischof, M. Klotz, R. Lemor, C. Degel, H.-H. Schafer, Cell specific ultrasound effects are dose and frequency dependent, Annals of Anatomy, 195, pp57-67, 2013.

Hao Yu and Liang Xu, Cell experimental studies on sonoporation: State of the art and remaining problems, Journal of Controlled Release, 174, pp151-160, 2014.



CD Bortner and JA Cidlowski. Apoptotic volume decrease and the incredible shrinking cell. Cell Death and Differentiation, 9, pp1307-1310, 2002

Mari Shimaru , Yukihito Ishizaka, Akira You Kiyohiko Hatake, Mieko Oshima, Takehito Sasaki, Fumimaro Takaku. Characterization of room temperature induced apoptosis in HL-60. FEBS letters 417, pp 379-384, 1997.

Mari Shimara, Emiko Okuma, Akira You, Takehito Sasaki, Chiaki Mukai, Fumimaro Takaku, Yukihito Ishizaka. Room temperature induced apoptosis of Jurkat cells sensitive to both caspase-1 and caspase-3 inhibitors. Cancer Letters 132, pp 7-16, 1998.

Kristiansen and J Ham. Programmed cell death during neuronal development the sympathetic neuron modeL, Cell death and Differtitation 21, pp 1025-1035, 2014.

Martin B.Friis, Christel R.Friborg, Linda Schneider, Maj-Britt Nielsen, Ian H,Lambert, Soren T. Christensen and Else K. Hoffmann. Cell shrinkage as a signal to apoptosis in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. J Physiol 567 pp 427-443, 2005.

